
Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  1 of 16 

SELINSGROVE BOROUGH COUNCIL MEETING 
 

MONDAY, JUNE 4, 2007 - 7:00 P.M. 
 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT:  Pres. C. Handlan, V. Pres. W. Reuning, C/P J. Herb, 
C/P W. Hetherington, and C/P D. Mengel 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT:   C/P D. Anderson, C/P M. Inch 
 
NOTE:  C/P Herb left the meeting at 9:12 P.M. 
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  Solicitor R. Cravitz; Mgr. J. Bickhart; Mayor P. Carroll; Police Chief T. Garlock; 
Borough Engineer John Coukart; Borough Treasurer Sheri Badman; Recording Secretary Dawne Long; 
DH&L Representative Ken Stettler; SPI Representative Judy Spiegel; Borough Residents Joseph and 
Margaret Siro; Church of the Nazarene Representative Bruce Teats; Shade Tree Commission Chairman 
Karl Maul 
 
OTHERS ABSENT:   None 
 
CALL MEETING TO ORDER: 
 
Pres. Handlan called the meeting to order at 7:00 P.M.  Mgr. Bickhart called the roll, noting that enough 
Councilpersons were present for a quorum. 
 
REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF COUNCIL MINUTES FROM MEETING OF MAY 7, 2007: 
 
Motion by C/P Mengel to approve the minutes as presented.  Seconded by C/P Herb. 
 

AYES:  FIVE (5 ) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 

VISITORS TO BE HEARD: 
 
Borough Police Chief, Thomas Garlock – Presentation of Police Report for April 2007 – Chief 
Garlock stated there were 27 serious crimes reported during the month, bringing the 2007 year-to-date 
total to 119 as compared to 96 in 2006.  There were 86 less serious crimes reported during the month, 
bringing the 2007 year-to-date total to 256 as compared to 226 in 2006.  The total crimes for the month 
were 113, bringing the 2007 year-to-date total to 375 as compared to 323 in 2006.  There were 379 calls 
for service for the month, bringing the 2007 year-to-date total to 1,295 as compared to 1,870 in 2006.  
There was a 32% decrease in calls for service reports during April, as expected due to the call and 
service reduction plan that went into effect in January.  Alcohol violations showed a decrease in April 
2007 as compared to April 2006.  In comparing the year-to-date totals the alcohol violations are also 
shown as down this year over last year even though public intoxication is up.  Disorderly conducts were 
down to 73 this year from 85 last year.  Last year during the spring and fall semesters there was a heavy 
police presence with high arrests during both periods.  The decreased incidents may be a result of this 
higher police presence.  C/P Reuning commended the department for this.  C/P Hetherington asked why 
serious crime is up and Chief Garlock replied he does not know.  He is looking for patterns but they are 
difficult to establish with only four months so far in the year.  He is hoping after six months he will be able 
to see what categories are showing increases.  C/P Hetherington asked if serious crimes could be a 
result of local gang activity and Chief Garlock replied that the actual problems that Sunbury may or may 
not be experiencing may or may not have a correlation in Selinsgrove.  There have been gang issues as 
far back as 1978 when Chief Garlock worked in the Borough prior to going to Sunbury.  Back then it was 
motorcycle gangs, which are still around.  Mgr. Bickhart noted that the patrol coverage shows 79 out of a 
possible 90 shifts being covered.  Listed are two shifts covered by Chief Garlock, three shifts covered by 
the part-time officer and one shift covered by overtime.  Chief Garlock stated those six covered shifts are 
included in the 79 and Mgr. Bickhart noted that the true deficit beyond normal scheduling would then be 



Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  2 of 16 

73 out of 90.  Chief Garlock stated when he does shift coverage he checks to see if one of the three 
primary shifts are covered during the course of the day.  If there is a mid watch, which is 7:00 at night to 
3:00 in the morning, rather than the midnight shift, then that is noted as a .5, meaning that at least part of 
the morning was covered. 
 
Presentation of Award to Woodrow Mengel – Chief Garlock stated that he and Woody were original 
members of the auxiliary force that was formed in December 1977.  Woody rode with Chief Garlock when 
they went to full police officer status in the Borough.  Woody recently retired as a crossing guard, a job he 
had done since the auxiliary disbanded.  He has been in almost continuous service to the Borough since 
December 1977.  Because of that the school gave an award to Woody last Thursday, but Chief Garlock 
was occupied and unable to attend the award ceremony.  At tonight’s meeting Chief Garlock presented 
Woody with an award from the police department.  He read from the award:  “A commendation award to 
Woodrow A. Mengel, Borough of Selinsgrove, in that Woodrow Mengel served as an auxiliary police 
officer and later as a school crossing guard for the Borough of Selinsgrove, during which time he showed 
constant diligence and concern for the citizens of the Borough and strove to ensure the continued 
betterment of his community.  The officers and staff of the Selinsgrove Police Department offer this tribute 
to his years of unselfish service and recognize the individual contribution in ensuring the continued safety 
of our community.  Lest we forget.”  Chief Garlock then presented the award to Woody, which was 
greeted with applause from those present.  Mayor Carroll took pictures.  Chief Garlock stated what a 
pleasure it has been for him to have worked with Woody over the years, noting that he will be missed and 
thanking him for his time. 
 
May 24 Incident involving the School District – Chief Garlock stated that due to operational issues he 
will send the Council a confidential memorandum on this incident in order to update them on what 
occurred, what the police department did to respond to the situation, and what the results were.  The 
hearing was on Thursday of last week.  Pres. Handlan stated that from everything she heard, the police 
did an excellent job of handling the situation, working with the other entities that came together that day.  
C/P Hetherington noted that the police made many people in the neighborhood happy by their actions in 
dealing with the person involved in the incident.  C/P Mengel stated she has not heard any complaints 
regarding the school district’s handling of the incident.  Chief Garlock stated that it worked out well.  There 
are plans in place to advance training during the summer and to advance emergency response plans for 
these types of incidents.  He stated errors were made but they were compensated for because of the 
training received throughout the year.  If another incident were to arise in the future then the response will 
be smoother because there will be more training that has taken place.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that there 
was one complaint in the form of a letter to the editor from a mother who was not appreciative of the 
school district’s attempts to control information being passed out from the schools to the parents.  This is 
something that needs to be addressed in the future.  It is common to any kind of emergent circumstance 
that there are people who will not follow the directions that are necessary to control the circumstances.  
The letter to the editor troubled Mgr. Bickhart because it expressed a sentiment that is pretty widely felt by 
parents who would have, given the opportunity, gone en masse to the school district and created even 
more of a problem.  Parents and the citizenry need to be reminded that in these circumstances there are 
people who are in charge and what they say is what is necessary.  It is not to keep people from knowing 
things, but it is necessary to keep control of the circumstances.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he was in State 
College on May 24 and his first worry was whether the news media had picked up the incident and sent it 
out over the airwaves.  They did not.  However, it was out on the airwaves via cell phones from some kids 
who did not follow instructions and who did contact their parents.  This could have created a hardship with 
controlling the situation, the traffic and the people in the Borough.  Pres. Handlan suggested that when 
the plan is reevaluated and mapped out, a communication plan should be discussed to determine how to 
deal with parents.  She stated that Sheri did an excellent job in Mgr. Bickhart’s absence.  C/P Reuning 
stated it is impossible to control cell phones and text messaging.  Mgr. Bickhart agreed, stating it is the 
parental response that would concern him.  He stated that it does need to be a part of the plan so that the 
person who is in charge of controlling access to the community and the scene can be prepared. 
 
Gang-Related Meeting in Sunbury – Pres. Handlan asked if anyone from the police department 
attended the meeting this week.  Mayor Carroll attended and he has some handouts for later in the 



Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  3 of 16 

meeting.  Chief Garlock stated that the police department gets intelligence updates from the State Police 
troop every year.  In the mandatory update training this year there was an entire day on gang issues. 
 
DH&L Fire Company, Ken Stettler 
 
Ken reported there were 22 incidents in April as follows:  2 automatic alarms, 3 standby assignments, 
2 vehicle accidents with extrication, 4 false alarms, 3 medical assists, 1 local alarm, 2 vehicle accidents 
without extrication, 1 rescue call, 3 structure fires, and 1 vehicle fire.  The incidents occurred as follows:  
1 in Jackson Township, 3 in Monroe Township, 8 in Penn Township, 6 in Selinsgrove, 3 in Sunbury and 
1 in Washington Township.  The loss within the jurisdiction was $0.00.  April man hours total 859. 
 
Ken reported there were 18 incidents in May as follows:  3 automatic alarms, 8 standby assignments, 
2 good intent service calls, 1 local alarm, 1 vehicle accident without extrication, 1 rescue call, 1 structure 
fire, and 1 vehicle fire.  The incidents occurred as follows:  1 in Chapman Township, 1 in Freeburg, 2 in 
Lower Augusta Township, 7 in Penn Township, 4 in Selinsgrove, 1 in Shamokin Dam, 1 in Sunbury and 
1 in Union Township.  The loss within the jurisdiction was $0.00.  May man hours total 675. 
 
C/P Mengel asked what the calls were in Sunbury.  Ken did not know for sure, but guessed that they were 
water rescues that actually should have been included on Upper or Lower Augusta Township, depending 
on what part of the river they were on. 
 
Selinsgrove Area Recreation, Inc. – Update on Selinsgrove Community Swimming Pool – 
Mgr. Bickhart reported that the Department of Health inspector was in and found everything satisfactory, 
with no concerns.  The pool has had two weekends of operation so far, with very good attendance.  The 
working contract with the YMCA is in place and the management is doing quite well.  It is too early to 
determine whether memberships are up, as the discount period has been extended to June 10.  
Applications are available in the Borough office. 
 
Selinsgrove Projects, Inc. – Official announcement concerning Main Street Program – SPI 
President Judy Spiegel reported that SPI has received the Main Street grant and Mgr. Bickhart has 
received the signed contract from the Commonwealth.  SPI is now moving forward to post the position 
once the committee finishes the job description.  Judy has already received an email expressing an 
interest in the position.  The Lewisburg and Mifflinburg Main Street Managers have told Judy that there 
are some good candidates available.  A design committee is being put together to address the façade 
grant to help downtown businesses improve their buildings.  The property owners on the corner are 
working on their own and not waiting for grant money.  Judy had spoken with one of the owners to let 
them know that the façade grant money will be available shortly.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that Senator 
Gordner went to bat for Selinsgrove in a big way to make sure that this happened for the Borough and he 
would like to find a way to publicly acknowledge Senator Gordner’s efforts along with those of Russ 
Fairchild and also Governor Rendell, without whom this program would not be in place.  Mgr. Bickhart 
stated that Selinsgrove has been without a reporter for the Daily Item for the past six weeks, leaving the 
Borough without any newspaper coverage as a way to get information out to the community.  Marcia 
Moore took it upon herself to stop in to the Borough office to tell Mgr. Bickhart this and she picked up on 
the Main Street Manager program and wrote the article.  She stated if Mgr. Bickhart calls her and gives 
her leads on things she will see what she can do, but she has a completely different assignment.  
Pres. Handlan suggested talking to Jan Tippett to see what can be done for the Borough until the position 
is filled.  Judy Spiegel thanked Council for their support on the Main Street Manager grant.  C/P Reuning 
asked if SPI still has to raise the matching funds for the grant.  Judy replied that SPI has a couple years to 
accomplish this; fundraising has begun and some funds are already committed. 
 
Bruce A. Teats, Jr. on behalf of the Selinsgrove Church of the Nazarene’s FusionFest – Mr. Teats is 
requesting a noise variance for the second annual FusionFest at the Church of the Nazarene.  Last year’s 
event went well.  Officer Mowery was there three times and saw no problems.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the 
Borough office received no complaints and he heard nothing other than the anonymous report that Officer 
Mowery responded to.  Mr. Teats stated last year they had contacted the immediate neighbors, but the 
person who complained was on Sand Hill Road.  He stated this year he would like to put something in the 



Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  4 of 16 

Snyder County Times noting that FusionFest was granted a variance and noting the dates and times of 
the event.  C/P Herb suggested including the name of a contact person at the church. 
 
Motion by C/P Herb to approve the noise variance request.  Seconded by C/P Hetherington. 
 

AYES:  FIVE (5 ) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Judy Spiegel, co-owner of Kinfolks Restaurant, requesting seasonal outdoor seating – Judy stated 
that Kinfolks would like to add outdoor seating, as other restaurants do, in order to take advantage of the 
wonderful weather.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that Borough Council granted BJ’s request in 1989 to permit the 
first of the outdoor seating in the downtown area.  Borough Council approved the encroachment into the 
area in front of the building.  BJ’s had asked for 8 feet and Council granted them 7½ feet, which is where 
the wrought iron fence was placed.  More recently, the Kind Café had asked for outdoor seating.  
Because it was an issue of use, the matter was taken to the Zoning Hearing Board to get a determination 
from them on the issues relative to the zoning ordinance.  The issues there had to do with a declaration 
by the Kind Café that this was not the walk-up window kind of business that the ordinance prohibits and 
the determination that it was a reasonable extension of the use of the property in the zone.  In this case, 
Mgr. Bickhart asked the Spiegels if they would go through both processes, to first discuss with Borough 
Council the utilization of a part of the right of way of Market Street, and then to go to the Zoning Hearing 
Board.  Mgr. Bickhart distributed an illustration showing the corner of the building, the main entrance into 
Kinfolks and the areas that would be available for tables and chairs without infringing on the types of 
things that Council would concern themselves with, which would be a 5-foot free-walking corridor for the 
passage of pedestrians.  The illustration shows the 5-foot distance from the planting box of the tree in 
front of the restaurant and also a 5-foot separation from the signal light pole that is there.  In granting 
approval, Council needs to show the approved area, which is shown on the illustration as between 5½ 
and 6½ feet from the building, leaving a corridor for traffic to approach the front door and the correct 
spacing for handicapped accessibility to the front door.  There would be one table on each side of the 
door running down to the doorway to the second and third floors of that building, which is the next corridor 
that would have to be left open.  The right of way line is 25 feet from the center of Market Street in 
accordance with the standard 50-foot right of way in the Borough of Selinsgrove.  In this portion of Market 
Street the right of way has been widened to 70 feet so there is an additional 10 feet on each side of the 
street, which puts the actual right of way to within 2.2 feet of the face of the building in this particular 
location.  Although Pine Street is not at issue here, on that side of the building the edge of the building is 
actually on the 50-foot right of way for Pine Street.  It is typical of the downtown that the right of way runs 
from face of building to face of building on the opposite side.  Pres. Handlan asked if this is pretty much 
the same footage as at BJ’s and the Kind Café and Mgr. Bickhart replied that it is.  He stated there was 
an obstacle at the Kind Café of a tree planting box.  Four feet was added to five feet and from that line to 
the building is what was approved to be occupied by tables.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that as a secondary 
issue to the Kinfolks request, the proposed outdoor seats are in addition to the number of seats that 
Kinfolks has inside the building so it represents an increase in the required off-street parking, and this 
building has no off-street parking.  Kinfolks has already been granted a parking waiver, but to keep the 
record straight, Mgr. Bickhart requested that Council consider an additional waiver for the additional 
parking required for the outdoor seating. 
 
Motion by C/P Mengel to grant Kinfolks the use of a portion of the right of way of Market Street as shown 
on Mgr. Bickhart’s illustration subject to the review and approval of the Zoning Hearing Board, and also to 
grant Kinfolks an additional waiver to the off-street parking requirements.  Seconded by C/P Reuning. 
 
Pres. Handlan asked if anyone had any concerns.  She stated she had none, noting that the outdoor 
seating would compliment the downtown area and attract more people to the restaurant.  Parking will 
always be a problem in the Borough and two tables outside will not create a dramatic impact.  Hearing no 
concerns, Pres. Handlan called for a vote on the motion. 
 

AYES:  FIVE (5 ) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 



Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  5 of 16 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS FROM PRIOR MEETINGS: 
 
Review List of Council Issues 
 
Mgr. Bickhart reported that the mandatory crosswalk surveys required by PennDOT were completed 
before the end of the school year.  Documentation was submitted requesting some crosswalk markers to 
place in the middle of the road.  There was a concern as to whether Susquehanna University’s campus 
security would take responsibility for the ones on University Avenue and Sassafras Street.  They have 
agreed to do so.  PennDOT supplies free crosswalk markers.  The application has been submitted. 
 
The Landlord Ordinance has been referred back to the Ad Hoc Committee.  The second meeting is 
scheduled for June 11 at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers.  The first meeting was very effective and 
beneficial.  Mgr. Bickhart has arranged to have Tom Sauers and one of his building inspectors come to 
the June 11 meeting to answer questions on how they would interpret things.  Brian Betz is requesting 
that Mayor Carroll and Chief Garlock attend the meeting.  C/P Mengel asked if Brian knows that the 
CK-COG people will be there and Mgr. Bickhart replied that he does and he has emailed this information 
to other landlords.  Pres. Handlan will fill in for C/P Inch who will not be back in time for the meeting. 
 
Receipt of official notification for the adoption of the Flood Plain Maps and Ordinance Amendment 
effective November 16, 2007 – Mgr. Bickhart reported that the flood plain mapping has a specific 
effective date of November 16.  Council needs to consider some minor changes to the language which 
updates references to the maps and notes the November 16 date.  They also need to consider a 
statement that the ordinance will also include any revisions.  It has been a while since the ordinance was 
advertised so it should probably be re-advertised and written so that it can be adopted at any time but the 
ordinance and the maps will become effective November 16, 2007.  C/P Mengel asked if Council decided 
to contact people again and Mgr. Bickhart stated that Council did decide to recontact everyone between 
now and November 16 to make sure they are aware of the implications of failing to act.  C/P Reuning 
asked if there was a good response from the people when they were notified the first time and 
Mgr. Bickhart replied there was not. 
 
Motion by C/P Mengel to re-advertise the flood plain ordinance maps.  Seconded by C/P Reuning. 
 

AYES:  FIVE (5 ) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Mgr. Bickhart reported he still has not heard back from the school district on the Borough’s request to split 
the engineering charges for the Weiser Run work. 
 
The Shade Tree Commission has submitted some things to Solicitor Cravitz for his review.  These will be 
addressed in the future. 
 
Mgr. Bickhart is still working on the list of junk and abandoned cars.  The police department did take 
action through their ordinance on two specific complaints.  Chief Garlock reported that one has been 
removed and the other is in progress. 
 
C/P Hetherington asked if the Borough could paint the rusty iron railing along Weiser Run on the east 
side of Orange Street.  He stated it would only take a can or two of spray paint.  Mgr. Bickhart stated this 
could be done. 
 
The yellow curbing on Orange Street was also mentioned and will be painted soon. 
 
Shade Tree Commission’s request to replace one member – Mgr. Bickhart asked Karl Maul if he has 
received a letter of resignation from Matt Cover and Karl replied that he has not received anything yet.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated that Solicitor Cravitz has officially contacted Mr. Cover so Council is well within their 
rights to take action tonight.  Solicitor Cravitz stated that Mr. Cover was given notice and an opportunity to 
be heard.  Mr. Cover has not acted on this.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he does not think this is adversarial as 



Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  6 of 16 

Mr. Cover was willing to resign.  Council will need to take action to remove Matt Cover as a representative 
on the Shade Tree Commission. 
 
Motion by C/P Hetherington to take the necessary action to remove Matt Cover from the Shade Tree 
Commission.  Seconded by C/P Mengel. 
 

AYES:  FIVE (5 ) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Motion by C/P Hetherington to appoint Dr. Jennifer Elick to the Shade Tree Commission.  Seconded by 
C/P Reuning. 
 

AYES:  FIVE (5 ) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Karl Maul stated that Dr. Elick will serve for the remainder of Matt’s term.  Pres. Handlan stated a letter 
needs to be sent to Dr. Elick. 
 
Sign amended “Scope of Work” for Boat Launch Project – Mgr. Bickhart stated that the Fish and Boat 
Commission was notified of the results of the bidding for the boat launch project and the need to delete 
the restrooms.  The Fish and Boat Commission has prepared an amended scope removing the 
bathrooms from the project and pledging the rest of the funds toward the two remaining elements.  
Council needs to authorize Pres. Handlan to sign and attest the amendment to the grant. 
 
Motion by C/P Hetherington to approve Pres. Handlan to sign the amended scope of work.  Seconded by 
C/P Herb. 
 

AYES:  FIVE (5 ) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
C/P Mengel asked how bathrooms could be obtained.  Some suggestions were to apply for another grant 
or to put in portable toilets in the interim.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he has not talked to Pat Owens about this 
yet, as Pat is in a job transition and has not been available.  He will get in touch with him as soon as 
possible.  SPI has a meeting June 16 and a recommendation can be made then for the short term. 
 
Karl Maul stated he saw a Fish Commission Susquehanna River Trail map that showed a Fish 
Commission boat launch at the end of Pine Street.  He stated it is his understanding it is not.  C/P Herb 
stated the Borough’s right of way follows the street going straight down to the river but that would be a 
difficult way for a person to even walk down to the river.  The pathway that goes down to the river angles 
off and crosses onto his property.  He stated he has never tried to discourage anyone from using it, 
simply asking people who use it to not leave trash behind.  Karl stated he did not know if the Fish 
Commission maps need to be addressed in some way to change what they are showing.  C/P Herb 
stated unless it becomes an issue he is not concerned about it.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he had seen the 
map a number of years ago and it is a touchy subject.  It is something that does need to be addressed 
going forward because it is now part of a published map.  He stated it surprised him that it was actually 
listed because he has never known it to be published or public.  It is not used heavily.  C/P Herb stated it 
is not used by vehicles at all.  He stated a couple of years ago when some paving work was done, the 
pavers had some extra asphalt and ran it down there for a while and stopped it, creating a bigger drop-off 
between where the paving stops and some old concrete that was underneath.  He stated he does not 
remember a car being down there for at least five years.  Mgr. Bickhart stated it is identified as a launch, 
not for vehicular traffic but as an access point.  That means someone would park on Front Street and 
carry their boat down over the bank.  C/P Herb stated he has put a sign up asking that no vehicles use it.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated the Borough could improve it to the point where pedestrian access is possible, and 
limit it to just that.  Karl stated that the map is also incorrect regarding some of the islands, as PP&L 
Island is now publicly owned.  He stated they would have to reprint the map sometime and if the access 
was in error this would be a good time to let them know. 
 



Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  7 of 16 

COMMITTEE / COMMISSION / BOARD REPORTS: 
 
FINANCE & BUDGET COMMITTEE:  C/P Inch, Chairman 
 
Payment and Ratification of Bills 
 
Motion by C/P Reuning to pay the bills.  Seconded by C/P Hetherington. 
 

AYES:  FIVE (5 ) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 

Statewide Tax Recovery, Inc. - Exoneration Requests – None this month 
 
Report on meeting with Selinsgrove Municipal Authority – C/P Reuning reported that the Finance 
Committee met with the Selinsgrove Municipal Authority in May and after discussing the matter for about 
an hour and a half, it was decided that there was no reason to approve selling the water company.  The 
sale was rejected with the Authority’s agreement.  Mgr. Bickhart clarified that the Authority was 
approached by Aqua Pennsylvania.  The Authority met to consider the sale of the water company.  
Mgr. Bickhart had done a ten-year projection of the likely costs and expenses of the water system to 
compare potential rate increases against the rates from Aqua Pennsylvania.  The Authority’s intention, if 
the water system was sold, was to take the proceeds from the sale and distribute it back to the users.  In 
the short term that worked, but in the long term the money would be used up and Aqua Pennsylvania 
would raise rates.  The Authority owns the water system but turns almost complete control over to the 
Borough, and it would have taken the Borough’s consent for the sale to occur.  Over the years 
Mgr. Bickhart has always made sure that the Authority and Council make decisions concurrently because 
the agreement takes both entities to do anything.  After the joint meeting with the Finance Committee, the 
Authority voted not to entertain any offers to purchase the water company at this time.  Mgr. Bickhart 
reported that the water company is worth at least $4 million on the market.  Mayor Carroll stated the 
original offer at the first meeting was $2 million, so it was doubled by the second meeting.  C/P Reuning 
stated that Aqua Pennsylvania was trying to buy the water company about six or seven years ago.  He 
stated that today he learned that the savings from the sewer metering system comes to $88,000 for this 
year and it will probably be the same next year.  This will replace the money spent on the metering and it 
will also save the Borough having to enact a sewer rate increase.  Mgr. Bickhart states this amount is 
what the Borough was paying for treatment of water that was not the Borough’s since the beginning of the 
Authority.  George Kinney had known that the meters were necessary and that there would be a savings.  
The Borough pays an estimated amount in installments, so for the third installment of this year the 
Borough will get a credit of $88,161.91.  This amount was budgeted for but now does not need to be 
spent.  This will reflect back on the sewer budget and the problem of the diminishing capital reserve will 
be corrected.  This credit is for the 2006 flows with the credit being received in the third quarter of 2007.  
The Borough is currently paying for 2007 and will then receive a credit for the 2007 flows in 2008.  By that 
time the Borough will have corrected the estimate and will not receive any more credits.  When the 
estimate was made for 2007 the Borough only had a few months worth of data and so they decided to be 
conservative and estimate high.  Mgr. Bickhart suggested not rushing into reducing the sewer rates so 
that this money can be put back into the capital reserve to correct some of the losses that were seen over 
the years.  C/P Mengel stated the estimated savings had been in the $100,000 range.  C/P Reuning 
noted that Penn Township will pay the extra next year. 
 
Report on request of Mayor Carroll concerning conference attendance costs – C/P Reuning stated 
he cannot speak for C/Ps Inch and Anderson, but he did note that this issue was discussed at the 
beginning of the year when working on the budget.  At that time the Finance Committee unanimously 
decided that they would not make any change in the budget amount that was allotted to the Mayor.  He 
stated he will stand on that decision and if Council wants to do something about this issue then Council 
will have to vote on it and C/P Reuning will vote against that motion.  Pres. Handlan asked if C/P Inch had 
seen the information from Mayor Carroll before he left and C/P Reuning stated he had not.  C/P Mengel 
stated that Mayor Carroll’s amount was lowered from $1,000 to $500 and all Council members have 
budgeted money that they do not use because they choose not to attend things.  She stated that Mayor 
Carroll does choose to attend things and he should be compensated for it.  She noted that Mayor Carroll 



Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  8 of 16 

is asking for $189 over the $500 that he has been allotted to attend this event.  Mayor Carroll stated that 
he has not spent any money so far; anything he has attended he has paid for out of his own pocket.  
Pres. Handlan stated that Mayor Carroll is on the Executive Board and remarked that Selinsgrove needs 
to be visible.  Previously the Borough had a mayor that no one knew.  She stated she is all for training 
and she herself has missed time from work, taking personal time off to deal with the cancer issue without 
asking for compensation.  She did state the concern that there are so many conferences that come up 
throughout the year that something could be attended every month.  She suggested that Council come up 
with an annual conference for Mayor Carroll to attend that will be paid for by the Borough and work this 
into the budget going forward.  She stated there is nothing wrong with Council members educating 
themselves about the positions they hold.  Just because it has not been done in the past is no reason to 
not do so in the future.  However, Council did not budget for this.  Mayor Carroll stated that he just 
submitted the letter for Council’s information, noting that there is this conference and one other event that 
are the big ones.  The location of the conference changes from year to year and will be held in Gettysburg 
next year.  He stated he has no problem paying for some things out of pocket, but he will be attending this 
conference and needs to know whether to register through Sheri or on his own.  He stated in this 
conference he was elected to a position and that is why he felt strongly enough to ask for the extra money 
from Council to attend.  C/P Hetherington stated that he had said some months ago that if Mayor Carroll 
needed additional funds he could use his share.  He stated he does not see any difference as to whether 
he spends it or the Mayor spends it.  Selinsgrove needs to be represented and Mayor Carroll is 
representing the Borough in a lot of things.  C/P Mengel said she would also contribute her funds and 
also agreed that Selinsgrove did not have a visible mayor in the past.  C/P Herb stated that in the 
budgeting process Council makes an attempt to determine what is a reasonable amount to allocate to 
certain things.  When it comes to allocating money to conferences it is a best guess and he does not see 
$189 over the allocated amount as unreasonable, given the reason for which it is being requested.  He 
stated his only concern would be that Mayor Carroll’s understanding would be that the $689 would 
exhaust what was budgeted for him for the year.  Mayor Carroll replied that he goes for training and 
conferences that have to do with the police department.  He does not go for finances and what other 
groups would go for.  He stated he understands that this conference will exhaust his budget and he would 
greatly appreciate it if Council would make up the difference for him.  He will look at the fall conferences 
with the understanding that the expenses would be out of his own pocket. 
 
Motion by C/P Herb to fund Mayor Carroll’s expenses beyond his allotted amount to attend the 
conference.  Seconded by C/P Mengel. 
 
Pres. Handlan asked if this would be funded through additional monies or by moving monies that have 
been allocated to individuals for training.  Solicitor Cravitz stated the money has to come from 
somewhere.  C/P Herb stated this is done every meeting – money is found from somewhere.  
Pres. Handlan stated that Sheri needs to know where to go to get the money.  She stated she finds that 
personal development for the positions they have been elected to is good, but not all the events can be 
attended.  C/P Herb stated that the best way to fund this conference would be to use monies allocated for 
conference attendance.  Sheri stated that that would work.  C/P Hetherington stated that it could be 
added to the motion that since he volunteered his funds it can be taken out of his allotment because he 
has not used any of his funds yet.  C/P Reuning stated that he has gone to a lot of conferences and on 
general principle he has never taken money from other people, thereby limiting them from going to a 
conference.  If C/P Hetherington volunteers to give up his funds that is okay, but this is not something that 
should be done automatically.  Pres. Handlan stated that during the budgeting process for next year the 
offerings need to be considered when coming up with the personal development allotments.  She stated 
Council and the Mayor need to be educated.  C/P Hetherington stated he does not mean to insinuate that 
he knows everything he needs to know as a Borough Council member, but he has chosen not to run for 
another term and he only has six months to go and he will not be using his funds.  Because he feels this 
conference is a worthy cause for Mayor Carroll to attend he is voluntarily making his funds available to 
the Mayor.  He stated he would do the same for any Council member who really wanted to attend 
something.  Pres. Handlan called for a vote on the motion. 
 

AYES:  FOUR (4) NAYS:  ONE (1) – C/P Reuning  MOTION CARRIED 
 



Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  9 of 16 

C/P Hetherington asked if a motion needs to be made to take the funds from his allotment.  Mgr. Bickhart 
stated that C/P Hetherington has given Council sufficient direction as to how to proceed. 
 
PUBLIC FACILITIES & SERVICES COMMITTEE:  C/P Reuning, Chairman – C/P Reuning stated that 
work is continuing on the sidewalks, with about half being done so far.  This all has to be put on a map 
and the work will continue until finished.  He anticipates this will take well into the fall. 
 
BOROUGH ADMINISTRATION / PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:  C/P Mengel, Chairwoman – 
C/P Mengel stated that the ordinance meeting went well.  Pres. Handlan asked who is taking ownership 
of the actual document.  C/P Mengel stated that Mgr. Bickhart has a working draft on his computer and he 
is making changes as they occur.  C/P Hetherington stated Council should extend their thanks to Brian 
Betz for the effort he has put into this.  C/P Mengel stated that the next meeting is scheduled for June 11 
at 7:00 p.m. in Council Chambers. 
 
C/P Mengel stated that Mgr. Bickhart gave her a copy of the 2008 recycling draft from the Lycoming 
County Landfill.  There will be seven free pulls per month and $70 per pull after that.  The current price is 
$100 per pull.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that seven pulls per month is pretty much the Borough’s average so 
this draft is almost equivalent to no cost for the pulls.  The Borough currently gets three free pulls per 
month.  C/P Mengel stated that, after talking to Susquehanna and Northumberland County, the 
controversy over J.A.W.S. has her convinced that the Lycoming County Landfill deal is the way to go.  
The Borough has not had any problems with them.  She will need to talk to the committee about this but 
she anticipates a recommendation (from the Committee) to stay with Lycoming. 
 
COMMUNITY ACTIVITIES AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS:  C/P Herb, Chairman – No Report 
 
PERSONNEL MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE:  C/P Anderson, Chairwoman – No Report 
 
PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE:  C/P Hetherington, Chairman 
 
Update on complaint concerning smoke from woodburner, contact with property owner – 
C/P Hetherington reported that shortly after last month’s meeting he was able to talk to Andy Lash, who 
told him that he will put an extension on his chimney sometime this summer.  He stated Mr. Lash is a man 
of his word but if it gets late in the summer and the work has not been done he will speak to him again.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated that Mr. Lash does not use his woodburner for domestic hot water.  The heating 
season is over it will not be used, which is good because these woodburners are designed to smolder. 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION:  Earl Moyer, Chairman – No Report 
 
ZONING HEARING BOARD:  Glen Rohrer, Chairman – No Report 
 
CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION:  Dalton Savidge, Chairman – No Report 
 
PARKS AND RECREATION BOARD:  Richard Norman, Chairman – No Report 
 
Mgr. Bickhart reported the Multi-Municipal Comprehensive Recreation, Parks and Open Space Plan 
Advisory Committee will hold a public hearing of the plan on June 21, 2007 from 4:00 to 7:00 P.M. at the 
Penn Valley Airport community room. 
 
SHADE TREE COMMISSION:  Karl Maul, Chairman – Karl reported that trimming will be done on 
June 16 at the LifeTrail.  He has contacted the arborist, who will come down and climb the trees.  Karl will 
arrange volunteer help to work on the ground.  He will contact Dick Norman to see if he has some people 
who could volunteer also.  The brush will most likely end up at the Borough recycling center.  Mayor 
Carroll stated that Dr. Derr will have his staff water the tree that was planted near his property.  Karl 
stated that he has been watering the trees throughout this drought period.  He stated Selinsgrove Pub 
has said they will water theirs and Emma’s Food for Life will also water theirs.  Karl stated that filling up 
three five-gallon recycle buckets with holes drilled in the bottom two times in one day will give the trees 



Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  10 of 16 

enough water for a week.  The water drains out slowly enough that it goes into the soil and not all over 
the sidewalks.  He stated this is just for the new trees that need to be nurtured a bit.  Karl noted that he 
has been getting the water for the trees from the Borough building.  Pres. Handlan thanked Karl for 
getting the trees trimmed at the LifeTrail and asked if the work is being done by a volunteer.  Karl stated 
that the in-the-tree work is being done by a professional and he is being paid on a per diem basis for one 
day.  This is his business and he has the proper insurance coverage.  Karl will get copies of the insurance 
certificate to Sheri for payment.  Karl asked Solicitor Cravitz if he received the information that he sent.  
He stated if there are any questions Solicitor Cravitz can get in touch with him.  Karl did get a copy of 
some standards, at a cost of $25 each, and suggested they be put on file somewhere for future reference. 
 
BOROUGH ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS: 
 
MAYOR:  Pete Carroll – Mayor Carroll commended Chief Garlock for all that he has done recently, 
including working on the incident with the school district and filling in on some midnight shifts.  Mayor 
Carroll reported a new cruiser has come in, which Chief Garlock is getting ready to put on the road.  The 
cruiser has some new features.  Pres. Handlan asked if the lights that are on the cruiser are the actual 
lights and Chief Garlock replied that they are.  He stated he will show them to Council sometime.  The 
cruiser will look exactly like the other car when it is finished.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that Council needs to 
authorize Pres. Handlan to sign a notice making Mgr. Bickhart able to take title to the car. 
 
Motion by C/P Hetherington to authorize Pres. Handlan to sign the notice allowing Mgr. Bickhart to take 
title to the cruiser.  Seconded by C/P Mengel. 
 

AYES:  FIVE (5 ) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Mayor Carroll reported that he went to the gang meeting in Sunbury, which about 100 people attended.  
He passed around some information cards showing gang information.  Chief Garlock may do some sort of 
meeting for Selinsgrove at some point in the future.  Chief Garlock stated there was a recent arrest made 
of a Latin Knight.  Mayor Carroll stated a stop was made recently in Sunbury through the “Click It or 
Ticket” program which resulted in the confiscation of a 9mm weapon from a member of the Latin Knights. 
 
Mayor Carroll stated he attended a ribbon cutting ceremony where he picked up some material about a 
mobile shredding service.  It was set up at Career Link for people to have things shredded during the 
spring collection.  The service has locked containers that they can leave and then they come around and 
do the shredding.  Mayor Carroll passed out brochures with information on this service. 
 
Pres. Handlan commended Chief Garlock on the outstanding work he does for the Borough.  She stated 
the Borough is very fortunate to have someone of his caliber working here. 
 
BOROUGH SOLICITOR:  Robert Cravitz 
 
Consider adoption of Ordinance # 753, pertaining to Vacating Arrow Avenue and a portion of River 
Alley – Solicitor Cravitz stated that if Council enacts this ordinance tonight there will be several letters 
that go out by certified mail tomorrow to the affected landowners.  Notice has been published in the 
newspaper of Council’s intention to enact this ordinance vacating all of Arrow Avenue and the portion of 
River Alley that runs from Arrow Avenue 60 feet north.  It will be 40 days after tonight until this ordinance 
actually goes into effect.  During that time period the landowners have an opportunity to appeal the 
ordinance in the Court of Common Pleas of Snyder County by establishing to Judge Woelfel’s satisfaction 
that they have a good and sufficient reason to oppose the vacating of the alley.  With the enactment of 
the ordinance, the areas noted will be vacated as public roads and shall no longer be cared for or 
maintained by the Borough of Selinsgrove but shall remain private roads for the use of those property 
owners whose lands abut them and those persons who otherwise have a legal right to use them as roads.  
C/P Herb asked for clarification that this ordinance would not in any way affect the Heimbachs’ access to 
their fields or Mr. Shipe’s access to his property.  Solicitor Cravitz stated that if those people are blocked 
from using the rights of way they can then bring an action against the person who blocks them. 
 



Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  11 of 16 

Motion by C/P Herb to adopt Ordinance # 753.  Seconded by C/P Hetherington. 
 

AYES:  FIVE (5 ) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Consider adoption of Ordinance # 756, pertaining to Prohibiting External Fuel Burning Devices – 
Solicitor Cravitz stated that this ordinance has been advertised for adoption tonight.  This ordinance will 
prohibit external fuel burning devices in the Borough.  The authority for this ordinance is in the Borough 
Code section and in 4012, the Air Pollution Control Act, as set forth in Pennsylvania Statutes Annotated.  
The purpose of this ordinance is to promote the general health, safety and welfare of the community by 
prohibiting external fuel burning devices or appliances within the Borough.  No person shall place or 
install an external fuel burning device or appliance on his, her, its or their real property within the 
Borough.  There is a grandfather clause under Section 5 that the ordinance shall not be construed to be 
retroactive and shall not require removal of devices or appliances that are in existence as of the effective 
date of the ordinance.  All external fuel burning devices or appliances in existence on the effective date of 
the ordinance shall have, or must have erected, a flue or chimney which is a minimum height of 20 feet 
above the natural ground level upon which the device or appliance is located.  If an external fuel burning 
device or appliance is more than 50 percent torn down, physically deteriorated or decayed any rebuilding 
or restoration of said device will be in violation of said ordinance.  The Borough’s approval in no way 
relieves the person from his or her duty to follow regulations of any other party such as the Pennsylvania 
Department of Environmental Resources or Environmental Protection.  Penalties include a fine of no less 
than $300 or more than $1,000 and in default of paying the fine the person can go to jail for a period not 
in excess of 30 days.  This ordinance will be included in the Selinsgrove Borough Code as Chapter 65b, 
External Fuel Burning Devices.  C/P Reuning clarified that this ordinance does not apply to fireplaces or 
wood burning stoves in homes and Solicitor Cravitz agreed, stating the external fuel burning device 
applies to outdoor structures built to burn oil, wood, coal or other fuels for the purpose of heating a living 
area of a dwelling or structure. 
 
Motion by C/P Hetherington to adopt Ordinance # 756.  Seconded by C/P Herb. 
 

AYES:  FIVE (5 ) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Pres. Handlan noted that in the definition it makes reference to the heating of the living area of a dwelling 
or structure.  She asked if it is considered living area if the structure is used just to heat the home’s water.  
Solicitor Cravitz replied that the heated water would be used in the living area.  He stated he had received 
a memo from Michael Bolig suggesting that allowances be made so that the ordinance only be in effect 
from April until September or October, and then allow people to use outside devices when windows are 
not open in homes.  However, this would be hard to police if there were a cold snap during those months. 
 
BOROUGH ENGINEER:  J. A. Coukart & Associates 
 
Update on pending projects – John Coukart addressed PennDOT’s offer on how to fix the drainage 
issues on University Avenue.  The Borough had constructed some curbing after the sewer project was 
completed but then PennDOT paved the roadway and the shoulder, damaging the bituminous rolled curb 
that was placed there and raising the level of the blacktop so that the curbing is no longer effective.  In a 
meeting this spring PennDOT denied that they did anything wrong; however, after walking the site and 
talking with homeowner Joseph Siro PennDOT agreed that there were problems.  There are also some 
storm drain issues that PennDOT has with an inlet near the reservoir which gets clogged and allows an 
excess amount of water to come down the road.  PennDOT has proposed to go an additional two feet 
beyond what is paved now to form a paved drainage channel which would geometrically work better with 
the driveways.  The low spots in the driveways sit back from the edge of the rolled curb so any water that 
has not already jumped the rolled curbs into the yards then drops back into the low spots in the driveways 
and continues down behind the curbing.  John Coukart and Corby Bowersox suggested to PennDOT that 
some agility funds be used to improve the situation.  PennDOT said the agility funds would only work in 
the trade for man hours so they would want additional money for the bituminous material, at an estimated 
cost to the Borough of $2,500.  John Coukart stated this is a PennDOT issue; however, the Borough 
could offer to pay the $2,500 to improve the conditions on University Avenue.  PennDOT has agreed that 



Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  12 of 16 

the minimum they will do is come back and replace the curbing and raise it back up.  However, this will 
not keep the water from dropping back behind the curbing into the low spots of the driveways unless the 
curbing is constructed to come back along the driveways with a radius to the low spots to bring the water 
back out.  Joe Siro stated that this issue is ongoing and it affects both sides of the street, the Borough 
side and the Penn Township side.  He stated to his knowledge there has only been one complaint and he 
does not feel the Borough should have to pay for this.  John Coukart agreed, stating it is a PennDOT 
issue and it is not fair to the Borough as a whole to have to put money out for material that the Borough 
already bought when they put the paved shoulder back in after the sewer project was completed.  
C/P Herb asked if PennDOT will do anything at all if the Borough declines to put any money into this 
project.  John Coukart stated that PennDOT does admit they have to fix the rolled curbing, but that will 
not eliminate the ongoing problem.  He did not know if a letter to PennDOT would shame them into going 
a step further.  He stated when the Borough did the sewer work they gave PennDOT a very nice 3-foot-
wide shoulder.  PennDOT had told the Borough they could go no further than the white line when the 
sewer was put in.  The Borough saw cut at the white line and put in the 3-foot paved shoulder and the 
rolled curb.  After PennDOT paved the road they put down a new white line, which they moved about 18 
to 24 inches to the side into the Borough’s shoulder.  You can see the crushed aggregate where the edge 
of the pavement used to be, and PennDOT admitted that they did not do a nice job there at all.  Then they 
compounded it by taking some of the Borough’s shoulder and calling it the cartway.  C/P Mengel asked if 
anyone from Penn Township has complained about their side of the road and John Coukart said he does 
not know if they have.  Pres. Handlan suggested following up in writing with PennDOT to let them know 
their minimum work will not be acceptable, nor is it acceptable for the Borough to spend $2,500 to fix a 
PennDOT error.  C/P Hetherington asked if Senator Gordner or Representative Fairchild could help the 
Borough with this.  Pres. Handlan stated this would be an avenue only after the Borough has exhausted 
its efforts.  John Coukart stated the reason PennDOT offered the three foot solution is because their 
smallest milling machine is three feet, so that would be the minimum they could mill out.  This would 
include milling out the sod along the edges and would bring the drainage back to the low spots along the 
driveways.  The consensus of Council was that a letter should be sent to PennDOT expressing Council’s 
concerns and see what happens. 
 
Margaret Siro asked how the residents will find out what will be done.  Will she find out when one day 
someone comes and starts ripping up her island and the roadside?  She stated if she and her husband 
did not attend the Borough Council meetings they would not have known that there was anything wrong.  
John Coukart stated that any work would be done by PennDOT so the Borough would not know the time 
and date of the work.  He thought it would be PennDOT’s policy to notify adjoining property owners before 
beginning.  Margaret stated the homeowners did not know that the sewer project was going to be done 
beforehand.  She stated they were not notified but only found out because she and her husband attend 
the Council meetings.  Sheri stated that the property owners had an easement that they had to sign off 
on.  Joe Siro stated that had they not come to the meetings they would not have had any input into where 
the sewer line was going.  There was discussion involving whether to go through the back yards or along 
the street.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that property owners are not involved in the discussion and decision, but 
once Council makes a decision the property owners are notified as to exactly what will be done.  He 
stated this was done and the property owners were notified before any work was begun.  He stated for 
this particular project all five neighbors were kept informed from the very beginning.  Margaret Siro 
insisted that they were not notified and Pres. Handlan stated that the property owners were notified once 
Council made a decision.  John Coukart stated that he recalled a lot of input from the property owners 
regarding where the sewer would be placed.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that while there was only one 
complaint, the issue did need to be addressed and Council solved a large problem that went beyond one 
person’s complaint.  He stated this was an ongoing process over a long time that considered different 
alternatives.  It was all very public and once Council made their final decision, then the property owners 
were notified in detail by individual letter from himself.  Joe Siro stated that unless he had been coming to 
the Council meetings he would not have known anything about the project before he received the letter.  
He stated there was no notice in the paper about the discussion.  Mgr. Bickhart stated it is unlikely that 
discussions of that sort would show up in the paper and there is no requirement that the Borough publicly 
advertise its intention to do a project like that.  He stated the property owners on University Avenue were 
more involved in the sewer project than any other group of citizens regarding any project in the 
community that he can recall.  Joe Siro stated he did not think the private sewer that was replaced looked 



Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  13 of 16 

that bad.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that the sewer was private and it was in bad shape.  He stated this is an 
old discussion and the issue was discussed with the property owners in joint meetings and in separate 
meetings.  He stated that the Siros are wrong that they were not notified because they were more than 
adequately notified about the project. 
 
Margaret Siro asked who they should go to about the current issue.  She asked if they would have a voice 
with PennDOT, who does not seem to work well unless they are pressured.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that if 
PennDOT decides to do something on University Avenue the property owners will most likely not be 
notified beforehand.  PennDOT will just show up one day to do the work.  Joe Siro stated he feels that 
PennDOT should be responsible for any damages to property, mailboxes, manholes, etc.  Margaret 
asked who contracts with PennDOT and C/P Reuning replied that it is PennDOT’s road.  They do their 
own contracting.  He stated that he wished to back up Mgr. Bickhart that all the property owners were 
notified in detail about the sewer project.  Margaret Siro stated that she is concerned about the effects of 
this project on her island, into which she has put a lot of time and money.  She stated she took pictures 
during the sewer project and saw mistakes that were made.  She stated that she is not trying to make 
trouble.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that the sewer project was an amicable solution to a problem and when it 
was completed PennDOT came along and messed it up, causing a problem to one of the property 
owners.  The Borough made PennDOT aware of this and they are seeking a remedy to their failure.  This 
is out of the Borough’s hands because it is PennDOT’s error to fix.  Joe Siro stated that PennDOT 
removed a culvert all the way up to Grayson View and on out to Route 522 and it is affecting both sides of 
the road.  He stated that after the sewer project was completed the Borough or its contractor, Mr. Charles, 
paid to have his shrubbery replaced and put back to his approval.  He stated he does not want to see 
PennDOT come in and start ripping things back up again without even notifying him.  C/P Hetherington 
suggested the Siros take pictures of their property before any work begins.  John Coukart again stated 
that PennDOT has offered to replace the rolled curbing at its own expense.  They want to know if the 
Borough wants them to take it a step further to improve the situation at the Borough’s expense.  
Pres. Handlan asked Mgr. Bickhart to write a letter to PennDOT stating that their proposal is not 
acceptable and asking them to take the homeowners and their properties into consideration.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated this is all the Borough can do and he does not want anyone to be under the false 
impression that this will be effective.  Margaret Siro stated she is broken-hearted, but she thanked the 
Borough for doing what they can for her.  She then asked about the reference to curbing, stating the 
properties there along the state highway do not have sidewalks, and asking if at some point in the future 
those property owners will be required to put in a sidewalk.  She stated if this is to be the case she would 
like to know now so she does not put time, effort and money into something that will have to be ripped up.  
C/P Hetherington stated he does not think sidewalks will be required there, but he stated the current 
Council cannot speak for a future Council.  He stated sidewalks have only been required on improved 
streets that have cement curbing.  Pres. Handlan stated that that area is not designated for sidewalks, 
and neither is the section along Bridge Street.  Margaret Siro asked if this issue affects the university.  
Where the Siros’ property ends there is a large piece of land with some drains that belongs to the 
university.  John Coukart stated that PennDOT is looking at doing the work from 18

th
 Street on up to see 

that it does get into the inlet.  There is a piece of concrete curb in front of the inlet and some bituminous 
curb that comes back out a little bit.  PennDOT would bring it back out.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that in that 
case this project would affect the university.  Joe Siro stated he does not see much of a problem at his 
property, maybe some stones and cinders, but the water comes in and goes back out again.  He said only 
one person has complained.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that the amount of damage is relatively minor and it is 
a large fix for one small place where the water jumps up over the curb.  John Coukart stated there is more 
than one place but it is more noticeable in the one particular spot.  He stated as soon as one place is 
taken care of and no others, then the situation can change for the worse.  Mgr. Bickhart summed up 
Council’s wishes that he notify PennDOT in writing that Council is not willing to participate in the joint 
project that will mill out three feet of shoulder off the white line and reconstruct it.  John Coukart stated 
that PennDOT has verbally told him that the minimum they will do is to repair the curbing that they 
damaged to make it right.  However, that will be a problem if PennDOT does not do something to bring 
the water back out in front of the curbing from the low spots in the driveways.  Mgr. Bickhart stated in that 
case the only really good solution is the one the Borough does not think they should participate in 
financially.  PennDOT should be encouraged to do that work without the Borough’s participation because 
of the loss in the flow line.  The Borough did have a flow line reestablished when they were done with the 



Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  14 of 16 

sewer project.  John Coukart stated that the Borough improved it considerably from what was there.  The 
inspector from District 3, where the Borough had to get the highway permit, was very adamant that the 
Borough put the rolled curbing back with the right height, which is what the Borough did.  The local 
maintenance people came along a couple months later and undid everything that the Borough did. 
 
Mgr. Bickhart stated that he will write a letter to PennDOT stating that Council wants them to reestablish 
the flow line and to reconstruct the curbing as it was when the Borough left the project, and to do this 
without the Borough’s participation.  When they do this, Council is asking that PennDOT notify the 
property owners in advance, as the Borough would have done if it were their project.  By PennDOT 
reestablishing the flow line it should take care of the problem of the water going behind the curbing and 
into the properties.  Pres. Handlan asked if there is any chance PennDOT will proceed with this before 
they hear back from Council and John Coukart said PennDOT is hoping that Council will just forget about 
it so they can leave it just like it is. 
 
NOTE:  At this point C/P Herb left the meeting – 9:12 P.M. 
 
John Coukart reported that the 2006 Street Program has been completed for the most part.  However, 
there was some damage done to the curbing during the milling operation.  The milling contractor has 
offered to grind down the curb face, do some repairs and put a coating on entire curb sections.  If this 
works well it is something that might be able to be done in other locations where the curbs are pushed out 
by the trees.  A contractor could cut the face of the curb off so there is a straight line and then come back 
and put a coating on.  The coating is very durable.  It is not a patch but the whole curb face will be done.  
The coating is colored so the patina of the neighboring curbs can be matched.  There was some milling 
work being done on Broad Street with an edge left along the curb, which is how milling has always been 
done in the Borough.  The contractor then comes along and scrapes it off.  For some reason this milling 
company took the guards off the machine, which exposed the cutter heads to the curb face.  C/P Reuning 
stated he watched the milling company and they were sloppy.  C/P Mengel stated she has heard many 
complaints from people on Woodruff.  John Coukart stated that in the areas where the curbs are painted 
yellow the milling marks will be patched and it will be masked once the curbing is painted.  He stated the 
company will power wash to clean and prep the curbs before applying the coating.  This will all be done at 
the contractor’s expense. 
 
John Coukart reported there is a pre-bid meeting this Thursday at 9:00 a.m. with Eastern Industries.  
They have to order some manholes so that is the only thing that will keep them from beginning their work 
in the Borough.  A change order will be done to include the section of the alley that has been added 
because of the extra money in the budget. 
 
John Coukart reported that the bids for the 2007 utility program, which is the water line on Sand Hill 
Road, will be opened on June 20.  When that project is done the Borough will be able to widen the road 
out a little bit with funds from that project. 
 
John Coukart stated that Corby Bowersox is doing a terrific job.  He knows the importance of 
maintenance and crack sealing on the roads.  John stated Council did a good job in hiring Corby.  He is a 
very comfortable person to work with. 
 
Consider request from Mid-State Paving concerning charges of liquidated damages – Mgr. Bickhart 
stated that Mid-State has called for an inspection upon completion.  He asked John Coukart to document 
the liquidated damage issue and recommend to Council what they should do regarding this.  John 
Coukart stated he will sit down with Corby to look at the situation.  He stated at this point he has no 
reason to ask for leniency because the contractor did not come in and work to any great extent to get the 
project finished up for the Borough.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he wholeheartedly supports that position, stating 
that Mid-State has done nothing to support leniency on the contract.  Even when they could have made 
efforts, they did not.  John Coukart stated that when they were working it was like the contractor’s version 
of the Keystone Cops.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he has always been sensitive to the fact that the Borough 
should have damages to offset a claim of liquidated damages, and in this case the Borough does have 
costs.  They have the cost of John Coukart’s time, Corby Bowersox’s time, and other prolonged costs on 



Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  15 of 16 

the project.  He stated he does not always recommend that Council exercise its right to liquidated 
damages but this case is different and is an example of when liquidated damages are to be used.  John 
Coukart stated that Corby had to play the role of project manager for Mid-State, as Gary had to do last 
year.  There was even a special meeting to get Mid-State back to complete the work. 
 
BOROUGH TREASURER:  Sharon Badman 
 
Review Treasurer’s Report for May 2007 -   Pres. Handlan asked if there were any questions on the 
Treasurer’s report.  Hearing none, she stated that it is on file for audit. 
 
BOROUGH MANAGER / SECRETARY / ZONING OFFICER:  Mgr. Bickhart 
 
Non-Police Complaint Update – Mgr. Bickhart stated that the only complaint that was received was from 
Joyce Hendricks about 309 Broad Street.  That is the location from which the police department assisted 
in removing the occupant following the school district incident.  The property has been taken back by the 
landlord and all of the problems have gone away.  Pres. Handlan stated that Joyce was very appreciative 
of the speedy response she received from the police department, Mayor Carroll and Borough Council. 
 
Update of PROPERTY TRANSFERS and BUILDING PERMITS ISSUED, Janet Powers, Deputy 
Zoning and Permit Officer – No written report, although there have been transfers and permits. 
 
Authorize President of Council to sign Ethics Act Certification pertaining to DCNR Grant 
Application for Swimming Pool Renovations – Mgr. Bickhart stated that there is a problem at DCNR 
with a deputy chief.  DCNR has provided the Borough with a Grant Applicant Ethics Act Certification 
indicating that the Borough does not know any of the people listed or had any dealings with them.  The 
people listed include Steve Kniley, Deputy Chief of Staff for the Governor, and any members of his 
immediate family – Kim E. Kniley, Lisa Fleming, Mark Kniley, Michael Kniley, Kenneth Kniley and Bessie 
Kniley.  The certification also includes Highland Software Inc. in Westlake Ohio. 
 
Motion by C/P Hetherington to authorize Pres. Handlan to sign the application.  Seconded by 
C/P Mengel. 

AYES:  FOUR (4) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Update on action pertaining to 304 East Chestnut Street property – Mgr. Bickhart reported that 
shortly after the last Council meeting the new owner took possession of the property and immediately 
proceeded to demolish it.  The structure is now totally gone and the owner is working with CK-COG to get 
a permit to erect a new structure, with a garage underneath, which will be totally compliant with floodplain 
regulations.  Pres. Handlan asked if anything has been heard from Mr. Watt since he left the Council 
meeting last month.  Mgr. Bickhart replied that he has sought him out but has not been able to make 
contact.  He stated this result is what Mr. Watt had hoped for and Council saw that it happened quickly 
due to the community issues.  Gary Christian took the project on to find a buyer.  The people who owned 
the property sold it for a substantial loss.  The bank that held the mortgage has also seen a loss.  A lot of 
people worked on this so that Borough funds would not have to be invested to resolve this situation. 
 
Update on action pertaining to 214 West Chestnut Street property – Mgr. Bickhart reported that this 
is the Adam Hess property where the four college students lived until the fire.  It has also been totally 
demolished.  Mgr. Bickhart has not heard from the owner regarding what he plans to do with the property.  
C/P Hetherington stated the rumor is that the owner will put in some topsoil and plant grass.  C/P Mengel 
asked if there is anything that Council can do to the owner for having four unrelated individuals living in 
the property.  Solicitor Cravitz stated it could go before the magistrate as a violation.  Pres. Handlan 
stated that too much time has passed since the fire, but in the future Council needs to be cognizant of 
situations such as these.  Mgr. Bickhart stated when the Landlords Ordinance is adopted then the 
Borough will have a better handle on these situations. 
 
Notice concerning Snyder County Historical Program on Selin’s Grove, Sunday, July 1, 2007 from 
2:00 to 4:00 P.M. – Mgr. Bickhart reported that Helen Keiser is putting together this program, which will 



Meeting Date:  June 4, 2007  16 of 16 

be all about historic Selinsgrove.  The program will be held at the Historical Society building in 
Middleburg. 
 
Attendance at Rural Emergency Preparedness Training Session – Mgr. Bickhart stated that he 
attended this workshop in State College.  The workshop dealt with pandemics and the local government’s 
need to understand and be prepared.  He stated he is a little better prepared, but frankly he is scared to 
death that if it goes the way it is expected to go there is not much that anybody can do to control it. 
 
Consider eliminating highest level of Water Rates’ declining rate schedule – Mgr. Bickhart reported 
that as a result of the discussions between the Finance Committee and the Selinsgrove Municipal 
Authority, the issue concerning the rates came up again.  It has been discussed for some time to work on 
the declining rate schedule for the water charges.  The declining rate schedule was eliminated on the 
sewer billings in one fell swoop.  The suggestion for the water billing is to begin working on it on a 
progressive basis and over the next three years work down from the upper end of the declining rate 
schedule and eliminate the levels.  Sheri put together some information as to whom this would affect and 
how much it would affect them.  In order to make this effective for the revenue the Borough receives in 
2008, Council needs to put the ordinance in place to be effective for the charges of October, November 
and December.  If Council does not move now it will only be effective in three quarters of 2008.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated it does not generate a tremendous amount of revenue to the Borough, but the 
revenue will affect the water fund.  It is possible that in return for taking the top declining rate off, the 
additional revenues could be reallocated to reduce the bottom rate.  The water fund is very solvent, 
maintaining a decent balance and a decent reserve.  The rates are reasonable in the market and the 
system is operated very efficiently, allowing reserves to be generated.  This could be referred to the 
Finance Committee for further consideration or Council could vote tonight to take action.  C/P Reuning 
stated the Finance Committee has talked about this but has not actually discussed it.  C/P Mengel stated 
she would not want to vote on this tonight.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he and Sheri went through this very 
meticulously in order to come up with numbers that could be applied ten years in the future.  They wanted 
to give the Authority a clear look at what the next ten years would look like with the Borough running the 
water system.  The ten-year projection indicated that after a few years the fund would be falling behind 
and would have to face a rate increase.  By eliminating the declining rate schedule it would postpone the 
need for the rate increase.  C/P Reuning suggested the Finance Committee discuss it and get back to 
Council for a vote at the July Council meeting.   
 
SELINSGROVE MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY – Donald Bottiger, Chairman – No Report 
 
EASTERN SNYDER COUNTY REGIONAL AUTHORITY – Bob Dagle and George Kinney, Chairmen 
– No Report 
 
NORTH-EASTERN SNYDER COUNTY JOINT AUTHORITY – C/P Hetherington and Mgr. Bickhart – 
No Report 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
MAYOR – Mayor Carroll expressed his thanks to Sheri and Betsy, as they were inundated with calls from 
people trying to find out what was happening during the school incident.  Mayor Carroll stated these types 
of incidents are happening all around, noting Virginia Tech and the incident of a student packing a rifle in 
a guitar case and taking it to school.  The Borough police are working with other local agencies on ways 
to handle these types of situations. 
 
OTHERS – Mgr. Bickhart reported that he received a notice from Service Electric that they are planning a 
9% rate increase on the cable TV.  Mayor Carroll stated that there was a $4 increase notice on his latest 
bill.  The increase will take effect next month, changing the basic cable rate of $42.90 to $46.90. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: Meeting adjourned at 9:38 p.m. 
 
Attachments: None 


